)))

)

))

)

LARRY DONNELL BROWN,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Case No. 62,922



BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

JERRY HILL PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

By: Robert F. Moeller Assistant Public Defender Courthouse Annex Tampa, Florida 33602-4197

		PAGE
STATEMENT OF	THE CASE	1-2
STATEMENT OF	THE FACTS	3-18
ARGUMENTS:		
I.	THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN OVERRULING LARRY BROWN'S OBJECTION TO THE PROSE- CUTOR'S ASSERTION DURING CLOSING ARGU- MENT THAT BROWN AND HIS COUNSEL DELIB- ERATELY INTIMIDATED KEY STATE WITNESS GEORGE DUDLEY, AND IN REFUSING TO IN- STRUCT THE JURY TO DISREGARD THE PROSE- CUTOR'S REMARKS.	19-22

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Pinellas County grand jury returned a two-count indictment against Appellant, Larry Donnell Brown, on June 10, 1981 (R 28-29). The first count charged him with the premeditated murder of Anna Jordan by asphyxiation, through binding her neck and/or placing a gag in her mouth (R 28). Count two charged him with burglary in that he entered Anna Jordan's dwelling with the intent to commit theft or sexual battery, and did make an assault upon Jordan during the course of the burglary (R 28).

Brown pleaded not guilty (R 35).

Through his counsel, Brown filed various pretrial motions (R 4, 5-6, 7-8, 9-10, 36, 70-71, 72, 73-74, 75-77, 78-79, 80, 81, 82, 83-84, 88-89, 106-113, 114-115, 116-117, 118-119, 120-124, 125-150, 151, 163-165). Among them were several motions attacking Florida's death penalty law, none of which was granted (R 70-71, 72, 73-74, 75-77, 78-79, 80, 90, 106-113, 125-150, 156).

This cause proceeded to a jury trial beginning October 26, 1982, with the Honorable Crockett J. Farnell presiding (R 341).

The jury found Larry Brown guilty as charged on both counts of the indictment on October 28, 1982 (R 171, 180, 181, 1235-1237). The verdict form for first-degree murder does not reflect whether the jury found premeditation or felony-murder (R 180).

On October 29, 1982 the jury returned a recommendation that the court impose upon Brown a sentence of life imprisonment without possibility of parole for 25 years (R 199, 1381). After the jury made its recommendation, the court ordered a presentence investigation (R 1381-1382).

Brown filed a motion for new trial (R 200-201), which was denied on November 15, 1982 (R 269). On the same date, the court orally sentenced Brown to death for the first-degree murder of Anna Jordan (R 278-280). The court did not orally impose any sentence for the burglary (R 268-281). However, the written judgment and sentence reflects both a death sentence for the murder and a consecutive life sentence for the burglary (R 203-207).

On December 17, 1982 the court filed his written findings as to why he imposed the death penalty upon Larry Brown (R 209-211).

Brown filed his notice of appeal to this Court on November 16, 1982, and the Public Defender for the Tenth Judicial Circuit was appointed to represent him on appeal (R 222).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Anna Jordan was an elderly woman who lived alone in one of a group of close-together houses on Rhoda Court in St. Petersburg (R 685, 697, 1075). She was hard of hearing, and had trouble walking because she was bow-legged (R 677, 686, 693). She used a walker or grocery cart or cane to help her walk (R 677, 693).

Robert Baird knew Anna Jordan through his work at the Neighborly Center, which was an organization set up to help the elderly and handicapped (R 676-677). Baird went to Jordan's house on February 5, 1981 because the driver for the Neighborly Center was unable to contact Jordan to deliver her dinner (R 678). Baird found three jalousies off the bottom of a door at Jordan's house (R 678-679). He rang the bell and called Jordan's name, but received no response (R 679). After noticing that the door was locked, Baird crawled through the opening where the jalousies had been removed (R 679). He saw Anna Jordan lying on the floor in her living room (R 679). She appeared to have something around her neck (R 679-680). Apart from that, she was clad only in a sweater (R 680-681). Her eyes were open, but she appeared to be dead (R 680). There was a trickle of blood on one side of her mouth and by one ear (R 680). Baird asked Mrs. Taylor, the driver for the Neighborly Center, to call the police (R 680).

Joseph Vermette, Anna Jordan's mailman, also went to her house on February 5 (R 686). He said there were four "slats" missing (R 686). Everything inside the house was in disarray (R 687). Vermette was unable to unlock from the inside the locks that were on the door from which the jalousies had been removed (R 687-689).

Paul Hayne, an emergency medical technician with the St. Petersburg Fire Department, was dispatched to Anna Jordan's house (R 705). He found her with her hands tied at the wrists behind her back, and with a rag tied around her neck (R 708, 712). She had quite a few black and blue marks on her face (R 708). Hayne checked for vital signs, but found none (R 713).

Joel Scot Cary, a forensic photographer with the Florida Department of Criminal Law Enforcement, took photographs of Anna Jordan's residence, and of her body (R 736-737). He also dusted the house for fingerprints, and obtained 19 latent prints (R 747, 749). Cary gathered various pieces of physical evidence as well (R 751). One item (State Exhibit Number 13) was a "bloody rag" found about two to three feet from Jordan's head (R 757, 772). It was rounded, and was more compact when Cary originally took it into his possession than it was at trial (R 758).

Cary did not find any signs of money or a wallet in Jordan's house (R 770).

Special Agent Edward Berwitz of the FBI compared hairs gathered from various items found in Jordan's house with known hair specimens from Larry Brown and George Dudley (R 793-799). He found some hairs that were of Negroid origin, but which did not belong to Brown or Dudley (R 798-799).

Another FBI special agent, Robert Beams, analyzed stains found on various items recovered from Jordan's house, and on two such items found blood stains which he was able to identify as "Group O" blood (R 807, 821). He also analyzed known blood samples from Larry Brown, George Dudley, and Anna Jordan, and ascertained that all

three individuals likewise had "Group O" blood (R 827). Approximately 45 per cent of the population of the United States falls within this blood grouping (R 827).

Frank Reinhart was the fingerprint technician to whom Joel Cary gave the latent prints Cary lifted from Jordan's residence (R 835, 838). Of the 19 latents, Reinhart found 12 to be insufficient for identification purposes and destroyed them (R 838-839). The remaining seven prints belonged to neighbors, police officers, and others who had legitimate reasons to be at Anna Jordan's house (R 839-840). None belonged to George Dudley or Larry Brown (R 840, 842). Reinhart also was given two fingerprints from a television set (R 841). They did not belong to Larry Brown (R 842-843). Reinhart was not able to determine whose fingerprints they were (R 841), but they appeared to be those of a very small person or a small child (R 842).

Detective Charles San Marco was one of the law enforcement personnel involved in the investigation of Anna Jordan's death (R 845). During the trial of this cause the assistant state attorney asked San Marco whether a third person [in addition to Larry Brown and George Dudley] arose as a suspect during his investigation, to which he responded in the affirmative (R 851). At that point a lengthy discussion was held out of the presence of the jury during which defense counsel objected to the detective's testimony because it was hearsay, and because of discovery violations by the State (R 851-897). The discovery violations consisted of not advising defense counsel of the last name of the third suspect (who was Ricky Brown, Appellant Larry Brown's stepson), and not advising defense counsel that George Dudley had picked Ricky Brown's picture from a photopack

as being the third person involved in the incident at Anna Jordan's house. The prosecuting attorneys averred that they did not know of the photopack until that very morning, although they conceded they had known that Ricky's last name was Brown for some time (R 856-859, 881). Detective Gary Hitchcox, however, testified out of the presence of the jury that he told the state attorney's office about the photopack identification the day after it took place (which was approximately four months before the trial) (R 870). Ultimately, the court ruled that testimony regarding Ricky Brown being the third suspect should be excluded due to the discovery violations committed by the State (R 887-888). Defense counsel requested an overnight recess prior to having to cross-examine Detective Hitchcox and George Dudley, and the court agreed to the request (R 891-893). Counsel also moved to continue the entire trial so that the public defender's investigative staff could conduct their own investigation in an attempt to locate Ricky and ascertain pertinent information he might have about the case (R 896). When the court denied this motion, counsel moved for a mistrial, which was denied (R 896-897).

Detective San Marco was instructed by the court that he was not to mention during his testimony that Ricky's last name was Brown or that he had any familial connection with Appellant Larry Brown (R 895). San Marco then testified in the presence of the jury that the first name of the third suspect was Ricky and that a probable cause pickup order had been put out for him, but he had not yet been arrested (R 897-898).

Gerald Ewing repaired a television set which Anna Jordan brought into his shop (R 902). At trial he identified State Exhibit Number

36 as that television (R 903-906).

Despite his earlier promise, the court did not grant an overnight recess prior to the testimony of George Dudley (R 907-912). He did, however, allow defense counsel a short recess prior to cross-examination of Dudley (R 938).

Dudley was charged with the same crimes as Larry Brown, burglary and first degree murder (R 924). He entered a plea of guilty to burglary and second-degree murder in anticipation of being sentenced to life imprisonemnt (R 924-925).

Larry Brown met Dudley at a bar at about 9:00 or 9:30 (p.m.) where the latter man was working and said, "We got a job to do" (R 925, 945). Dudley understood this to mean "[b]urglary or something" (R 925), even though Brown had never said anything similar to him before (R 947).

The two men met with Ricky, who was to participate in the job (R 925).

Over objection of defense counsel Dudley was permitted to testify that Ricky was Larry Brown's "son-in-law," and that Ricky was the son of Larry Brown's wife, Gloria Jean Brown (R 916-923, 925-926).

At night the three men went to the house that was to be burglarized, and Larry Brown removed two jalousies from a door (R 926-927). Brown entered the house, then opened another door through which Dudley and Ricky entered (R 927-929).

George Dudley testified at trial that Larry Brown discussed taking a black and white portable television while the men were walking to the house they were going to burglarize (R 929). (In his

deposition Dudley had said the three men did not talk at all as they walked to the house (R 948-949).) There was no talk about killing anyone (R 958). According to Dudley, Larry Brown did in fact take a television set from the house (R 929). Neither Dudley nor Ricky took anything (R 933-934).

When he first entered the house Dudley saw an elderly white woman sitting on the floor (R 929-930). (In his deposition Dudley had said the woman was sitting in a chair when he first saw her (R 955).) Larry Brown hit the woman once, and then tied her up (R 930). Brown used pieces of towel to tie the woman's hands behind her back, and to tie a loop around her neck (R 931). It appeared to Dudley that Brown was trying to tighten the loop, and to strangle the woman (R 963). (In his deposition Dudley had said that Brown did not seem to be pulling the binding tight, but that he merely tied it, and said the woman did not seem to have any problem breathing (R 963-964).)

Ricky had sex with the woman while Larry Brown ransacked the house after he tied up the woman (R 931-932).

Initially, after he was arrested, Dudley told the police it was Larry Brown who raped the woman (R 942). He told this lie because he thought Brown had told the police that Dudley killed the woman (R 942-943).

Apart from the one time Larry Brown hit the woman, Dudley did not see any blows struck (R 933). He never heard Brown threaten the woman (R 958).

Dudley was the first of the three men to leave the house (R 934). The woman was on the floor (R 934). At trial Dudley said on

direct examination that he could not tell if she was alive or dead (R 934). On cross-examination he testified that she appeared to be alive when he left the house (R 956).

George Dudley described his role in the events at Anna Jordan's house as one of merely standing around (R 959-960).

After the burglary Brown and Dudley went to a bar where Brown sold the television for \$20 (R 936-937). Dudley did not receive any of the proceeds from this transaction (R 937-938).

Valerie Lambert was the person who bought the television (R 971-978). The purchase occurred at around midnight on February 4, 1981 (R 972, 981-982). Several weeks afterwards, Brown offered to sell her a console, but she declined (R 979). On this latter occasion Brown told her several times to remember the name George Dudley if anyone asked her any questions (R 979). He seemed nervous at the time (R 980-981).

Theresena Brown attended a get-together sometime between her birthday on January 23, 1981 and the time Larry Brown was arrested at which Larry Brown said he had killed one white bitch and did not mind killing another (R 1010). This statement was made during or after a fight with his wife (who was not white) in which his wife tried to stab him with a knife (R 1010-1011, 1015, 1017). Brown had been drinking before he made the statement (R 1011). Theresena did not know what to believe when she heard the statement because Larry Brown was "a big liar" (R 1024).

Annette Heywood was present at the same party, which she remembered as occurring approximately a week before Larry Brown was arrested (R 1029). The statement she recalled Brown making was that he had

killed one white bitch and would kill his wife too if she did not leave him alone (R 1030). After his arrest Brown called Heywood from jail (R 1031). When talk turned to the statement Brown had made, he denied having made it (R 1031-1032). After some argument with Heywood on this issue, Brown finally told her to shut up because the telephone was tapped (R 1032). Two weeks later Brown called Heywood again and asked her to deny having heard the statement in question (R 1033-1034).

Dr. Joan Wood, Chief Medical Examiner for the Sixth Judicial Circuit, performed an autopsy upon Anna Jordan on February 6, 1981 (R 1059-1060, 1067). She observed some bruises and abrasions on Jordan's face, and areas where the skin was rubbed off (R 1072). There was also a bruise on Jordan's left thigh, one just above her left ankle bone, and two bruises in the region of the small of her back, as well as a scratch-like abrasion on the right side of her back near her shoulderblade (R 1073). She had a superficial tear of the skin at her vaginal opening (R 1073). There was bruising on Jordan's wrists where she was bound (R 1071, 1092-1093).

The marks on Jordan's face were consistent with a hand having been applied against the face with some pressure (R 1074). In Wood's opinion, not all the marks on Jordan's face could have been caused by one hand with one motion (R 1001). The bruises were, however, consistent with one grabbing and one striking (R 1099-1100).

Wood's internal examination revealed two bruises of the scalp that were not visible externally, a bruise of the frontal scalp, and a bruise over the collarbone (R 1076). Wood believed the bruises of the scalp, which were behind Jordan's ears, in the region of the

bone, and bruises of her face beside her mouth, were caused by pressure from a piece of cloth that was about her mouth and tied behind her head (R 1095). There was a small band of hemorrhage in the lining of the voice box, as well as pinpoint hemorrhages in the epiglotis and eyes (R 1077). The pinpoint hemorrhages were consistent with pressure being applied to these areas (R 1077). Jordan had three bruises and superficial scratches at the back of the roof of her mouth (R 1078). These were consistent with fingers having been inserted into the throat (R 1078). These injuries in the mouth might have bled slightly (R 1078). There were no observable bruises on the exterior of Jordan's neck (R 1002).

Wood said that a rounded piece of material found near Anna Jordan's body was "strongly suggestive" of a gag (R 1080-1081). However, the fact that the piece of cloth was found two feet away from Jordan was not consistent with the cloth being a gag held in place by another strip of cloth (R 1101).

Wood concluded that asphyxiation was the cause of Anna Jordan's death (R 1082). She could not state with certainty how the asphyxiation occurred, but expressed the following possibilities, over defense objection: obstruction of the airway by fingers or a gag, pressure on the neck by a person's hand or some other object, including the material which was around Jordan's neck (R 1083-1084) (although when Wood examined Jordan's body, the material around her neck was tied only loosely (R 1084, 1096)).

Sperm cells found in vaginal washings from Anna Jordan indicated to Dr. Wood that Jordan had sexual intercourse no more than eight to twelve hours before her death, and probably much closer to the time of death than that (R 1086-1087).

Jordan died sometime between 3:00 p.m. on February 4 and 3:00 a.m. on February 5, but probably before midnight on February 4 (R 1089).

Neither the sexual assault, nor the striking of Anna Jordan, nor the two combined, would have caused her death (R 1090).

Dr. Wood was the final witness presented by the State at trial.

When the State rested, defense counsel renewed their previous motions for mistrial, and moved for judgments of acquittal with respect to both counts of the indictment; all motions were denied (R 1108-1116).

Defense counsel then moved the court to call Detective Hitchcox as a court witness, as he was the chief investigating detective, was an agent of the State, and had great potential to be a hostile witness (R 1131). The court denied the request without prejudice to the defense to "pursue him as a hostile witness" if it became appropriate to do so (R 1131). The defense then rested without presenting any evidence (R 1131).

Larry Brown asked the court to give the jury verdict forms for first-degree murder which would indicate, if the jurors found him guilty, whether the finding was predicated upon premeditated murder or felony-murder (R 1135-1139). The court denied the request (R 1139). Brown objected to the denial (R 1207-1208).

During her closing argument to the jury, one of the prosecuting attorneys¹accused defense counsel of intimidating George Dudley by

1) Two assistant state attorneys prosecuted this case, and two assistant public defenders represented Larry Brown (R 341).

shouting at him and by positioning Larry Brown in a particular part of the courtroom (R 1173). Brown's objection to this argument was overruled, and the court refused to instruct the jury to disregard the prosecutor's remarks, with the court finding the remarks to constitute "fair comment" (R 1173-1174); the prosecutor continued arguing along the same lines (R 1174).

The jury deliberated three hours and 16 minutes before returning guilty verdicts on both counts (R 1234-1235).

Prior to the beginning of the penalty phase of the trial, the State expressed its intention to introduce a 1977 judgment and sentence against Larry Brown for attempted second-degree arson, but the court sustained Brown's objection to this evidence (R 1254-1259).

At the penalty phase the State introduced the testimony of Claude Hudson, who said that on March 11, 1981 two men kicked down the door to his house and hit him, one man with a pool cue and the other with a broomstick (R 1296-1304). He identified Brown as being one of the men (R 1302-1303).

The State also introduced, over objection, the testimony of Detective Rod Kosares regarding statements Larry Brown and George Dudley made to him about the Hudson incident after Brown and Dudley had been given <u>Miranda</u> warnings (R 1305-1311). Both men acknowledged being in the building where Hudson lived, but each denied striking him (R 1309-1311).

Finally, the State put into evidence a certified copy of the judgment and sentence against Brown for aggravated battery in the Hudson matter (R 197-198, 1311-1312).

The defense called Detective Gary Hitchcox of the St. Petersburg Police Department as Brown's first witness during the penalty phase (R 1313). He was the detective in charge of the investigation into the death of Anna Jordan (R 1313). Hitchcox had known Brown for about nine years (R 1315). Brown had acted as a confidential informant and had, over a period of time, provided the police with reliable information regarding various criminal activities (R 1315-1316).

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