IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)

)))))

JUN 27 1983

FIED

SLD J. WHITE LPANAL COURT

LARRY DONNELL BROWN,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Case No. 62,922

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

M. ANN GARRISON Assistant Attorney General 1313 Tampa Street, Suite 804 Park Trammell Building Tampa, Florida 33602 (813) 272-2670

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S OBJECTION TO THE PROSECUTOR'S STATEMENT IN CLOSING ARGUMENT THAT APPEL-LANT AND HIS COUNSEL DELIBERATELY INTIMIDATED STATE WITNESS GEORGE DUDLEY.

It is axiomatic that a prosecutor is entitled to wide latitude in closing argument, and all legitimate argument by a prosecutor should be encouraged. <u>Paramore v. State</u>, 229 So.2d 855 (Fla. 1969); <u>Wingate v. State</u>, 232 So.2d 44 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1970); <u>Washington v. State</u>, 86 Fla. 533, 98 So. 605 (Fla. 1924). In the case at bar, Appellant objected to the following statement made by the prosecutor during closing argument:

> "That leaves them with George. And looking at George, folks use your common sense in evaluating his testimony. George is dumb. Absolutely dumb. And that's being nice about it. I don't think he intentionally came in here and lied to anybody. The louder he talked to George and the more he yelled at George, the more he slunk. And if you noticed, they put the defendant right back there. They didn't leave him over there. They put him right over there where George could see him, Where Larry could see him and where George could see him, trying to intimidate him." (R. 1172-1173)

The trial court overruled the objection, finding the statement to be fair comment on the evidence presented (R. 1174).

While there is no reflection in the record of George Dudley's testimony to substantiate the facts set forth in the prosecutor's statement, there seems to be little question that the actions referred to did occur (R. 1173, 1174). Since there was a factual basis for the comment in question, the trial court could properly overrule the objection. See <u>Blair v. State</u>, 406 So.2d 1103 (Fla. 1981); <u>Darden v. State</u>, 329 So.2d 287 (Fla. 1976); Lewis v. State, 377 So.2d 640 (Fla. 1980).

> "The law requires a new trial only in those cases in which it is reasonably evident that the remarks might have influenced the jury to reach a more severe verdict of guilt than it would have otherwise done or in which the comment is unfair." <u>Darden</u>, supra. at 289

In <u>Donnelly v. DeChristoforo</u>, 416 U.S. 637, 94 S.Ct. 1868, 40 L.Ed. 2d 431 (1974) the Supreme Court indicated some criteria in determining whether a remark is so prejudicial as to deny a defendant a fair trial. Such factors include:

- Whether the remark was a brief episode or a persistent error,
- (2) Whether the comment introduced misleading evidence or omitted evidence valuable to the accused,
- (3) Whether the trial court instructed the jury to disregard the comment,
- (4) The strength of the government's case,
- (5) Whether the comment was made in response to remarks made by defense counsel,
- (6) Whether there was an objection to the comment, and

(7) The intent of the prosecutor and whether the prosecutor retracted the comment.

In considering the totality of the record, <u>sub</u> judice, it is evident that the prosecutor's remark, even if improper, was not so prejudicial as to deny Appellant a fair trial.

Appellant also argues that the prosecutor's comment that she did not believe George Dudley intentionally came in and lied to anybody (R. 1173) was improper. Appellee would respectfully submit that no objection was made to this statement (R. 1173-1174).

This Court and others have ruled on a number of occasions that failure to object to an allegedly improper comment waives the objection and the matter cannot be raised on appeal. <u>State v. Jones</u>, 204 So.2d 515 (Fla. 1967); <u>Songer v. State</u>, 322 <u>48/</u> So.2d 84T (Fla. 1975); <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 326 So.2d 413 (Fla. 1975); <u>Gansey v. State</u>, 382 So.2d 838 (Fla. 1978) and <u>Clark v. State</u>, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978).

<u>Sub judice</u>, Appellant's stated reasons for his objection revolved around the premise that the entire comment suggested Appellant had tried to intimidate Dudley (R. 1173-1174). Appellant's argument that the statement contains a comment on Dudley's credibility is not cognizable on appeal as it was not raised below. <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982). Additionally, the impact of the statement was diminished by the prosecutor's admonishment to the jury that they did not have to accept Dudley's testimony "hook, line and sinker". (R. 1176). It cannot be said

that this comment, when evaluated in the entire context of the record created reversible error. Compare <u>Francis v. State</u>, 384 So.2d 967 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980); <u>Maggard v. State</u>, 399 So.2d 976 (Fla. 1981).

Finally, Appellee rejects Appellant's contention that the prosecutorial comments contained at Record pages 1162 and 1167 could constitute improper comments on Appellant's failure to present evidence but would agree that this point has been waived by Appellant's failure to object at trial. See <u>e.g. Maggard</u>, <u>supra.</u>; Cumbie v. State, 378 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1978).

Appellee would submit that there has been no showing that any of the allegedly improper comments complained of materially contributed to the conviction <u>sub judice</u>, <u>Zamot v. State</u>, 375 So.2d 881 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981). Nor were they so harmful or materially tainted as to require a new trial. <u>Smith v. State</u>, 354 So.2d 477 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1978). For the foregoing reasons, Appellant has failed to demonstrate reversible error on this point.

ISSUE II

THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT LARRY BROWN MEANINGFUL RE-LIEF DUE TO THE STATE'S FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH FLORIDA'S DISCOVERY RULES, AND INALLOWING THE STATE TO INTRODUCE THE HEARSAY TESTI-MONY OF GEORGE DUDLEY. (As stated by Appellant).

At trial, Detective San Marco revealed that George Dudley had identified a photograph of "Ricky", the alleged third co-perpetrator of the instant crimes and it then became clear that Ricky's last name was Brown (R. 852, 853, 857). The trial judge conducted a <u>Richardson¹</u> inquiry, determined that the State had inadvertently committed a substantial discovery violation, and excluded the photopack and Ricky's last name from evidence (R. 887-888). The trial judge subsequently declined to exclude George Dudley's testimony about the family relationship between Appellant and Ricky Brown since the defense could have discovered this information during the deposition of George Dudley (R. 918, 920-922).

Appellant now makes a four-fold argument that he was harmed by the failure to disclose Ricky's full name, the denial of a continuance to locate Ricky, the denial of a continuance prior to George Dudley's cross examination and the admission of Dudley's testimony about the relationship between Ricky and Appellant. Appellant has failed to demonstrate, however, that he

1/ Richardson v. State, 246 So.2d 771 (Fla. 1971)

was, in fact prejudiced by any of these alleged errors. See Antone v. State, 410 So.2d 157 (Fla. 1982).

It is axiomatic that the failure to comply with a rule of discovery should be remedied in a manner consistent with the breach. <u>Ziegler v. State</u>, 402 So.2d 365 (Fla. 1981); <u>King v. State</u>, 355 So.2d 831 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1978). <u>Sub judice</u> the trial court reacted to the alleged discovery violation by excluding the undisclosed evidence, to wit: Ricky's last name and the photopack. It is apparent from the record that the information regarding Ricky's familial ties with Appellant was available to the defense through the deposition of George Dudley and the State should not be penalized for the failure to specifically reveal this information. See <u>Breedlove v. State</u>, 413 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1981).

Appellant has also failed to show that the trial court abused its discretion in denying the requested continuances. See <u>King</u>, <u>supra</u>.; <u>Mills v. State</u>, 280 So.2d 35 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1973). Nothing in the record supports the conclusion that Ricky, if located, would have sacrificed his Fifth Amendment privilege to testify in this cause. Nor is there the slightest reason to believe Ricky had information which would prove exclupatory to Brown. See <u>Perry v. State</u>, 395 So.2d 170 (Fla. 1981). Likewise, given the State's interest in locating the third perpetrator of the instant crimes and its lack of success in doing so (R. 897-898), it is evident that the requested continuance would have been pointless. Compare Valle v. State, 394 So.2d 1004 (Fla. 1981).

It should be noted that while the trial court initially agreed to an overnight continuance proceeding Appellant's cross-examination of George Dudley (R. 908), the court reversed its position following argument by the State that Dudley was not going to testify to facts previously unavailable to the defense (R. 908, 912). This ruling was supported by the Court's reviewing of Dudley's deposition and inquiry of Dudley, which revealed that Dudley's information about Ricky's relationship with Appellant was available to Appellant at the deposition (R. 918-920). Appellant has never demonstrated the manner, if any, in which he was allegedly hindered in his cross-examination of Dudley as a result of the denial of his motion for continuance. Under these circumstances it is apparent that the court was well within the limits of its discretion in denying this continuance. <u>Breedlove</u>, supra.; King, supra.

Lastly, Appellant argues that Dudley's testimony that Ricky was Appellant's stepson should have been excluded as hearsay.² Assuming arguendo that the testimony was indeed, hearsay, it is apparent that any error in its admission was harmless. Appellant had already been clearly linked to the instant crimes by George Dudley and by the testimony of Valerie Lambert and others establishing Appellant's possession and sale of the victim's tele-

^{2/} While Appellant raised the hearsay issue at trial (R. 917-918) the main thrust of his objection to the testimony was directed to the alleged discovery violation by the State. See <u>e.g.</u> (R. 918-923) Whether the grounds for the hearsay objection were fully developed so as to give the trial judge an adequate opportunity to rule on that basis is questionable. See <u>Lucas v. State</u>, 376 So.2d 1149 (Fla. 1979)

vision. The record fails to reflect any harm to the substantial rights of Appellant as a result of this testimony and for this reason error, if any, does not warrant reversal. <u>Olsen v. State</u>, 75 So.2d 281 (Fla. 1954); <u>Clark v. State</u>, 378 So.2d 1315 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980).

ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT ACTED PROPERLY IN DENYING BROWN'S MOTION TO DISMISS COUNT II OF THE INDICT-MENT, WHICH FAILED TO ALLEGE THE FACTUAL ELEMENTS OF THE ASSAULT MADE UPON THE VICTIM ANNA JORDAN.

Ordinarily it is sufficient to lay the charge in essentially the language of the applicable statute. <u>State v. Burkett</u>, 344 So.2d 868 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977). "Indictments and informations should be upheld if they are in substantial compliance with the law." <u>State v. Barnett</u>, 344 So.2d 863, 865 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977). "Where an information refers to a statute and tracks it language, it is generally held sufficient." <u>State v. DiGuillio</u>, 413 So. 2d 478, 479 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982).

In <u>McClamrock v. State</u>, 374 So.2d 1076 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979) the Second District Court of Appeal affirmed a conviction of aggravated assault where the information did not set forth the factual elements of assault. The court reasoned that "the information contained sufficient allegations to properly place the Appellant on notice of the charge, particularly where the elements of assault are defined in the statute. Relying on Florida Statutes and the Rules of Criminal Procedure, the Appellant could inform himself in more detail as the charge." Id. at 1077. But see conta: <u>Lindsey v. State</u>, 416 So.2d 471 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982); <u>Oliveria v. State</u>, 417 So.2d 1004 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982).

Even assuming arguendo the information was somehow deficient "an information which imperfectly alleges an element of a crime but does not wholly fail to allege that element is not fundamentally deficient and must be attacked by a motion to dismiss or the defect is deemed harmless. Even if attacked by a motion to dismiss, denial of the motion may be harmless error if the defendant can show no prejudice in his defense." <u>Green</u> v. State, 414 So.2d 1171, 1173 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982).

<u>Sub judice</u> Appellant had access to the medical examiner's report describing the victim's injuries and deposition testimony of George Dudley regarding the criminal events that occurred in the victim's home.³ This being the case, Appellant was clearly aware of the factual matters comprising the charged assault. Additionally there has been no allegation that the evidence adduced at trial was insufficient to support the verdict rendered, or that the jury was not fully and completely instructed on the elements constituting assault. Compare <u>Mitchell v. State</u>, 407 So.2d 343 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981). For the foregoing reasons, it is clear that the trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion to dismiss Count II of the information.

^{3/} While there is no transcript of the Dudley deposition in the record, it is reasonable to assume that the deposition contained substantially the same material revealed at trial. Except as noted in Issue II <u>infra</u>. Appellant did not claim surprise at Dudley's trial testimony.

ISSUE IV

APPELLANT RECEIVED AN ADEQUATE STATEMENT OF PARTICULARS FROM THE STATE AND THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPEL-LANT'S MOTION FOR A MORE DE-FINITE STATEMENT.

Appellant argues that the State should have been required to furnish a statement of particulars which revealed the exact manner in which the victim was killed, the facts showing premeditation, whether the state intended to prove theft or sexual battery, and the facts establishing the theft or sexual battery. Rule 3.140(n), <u>Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure</u> provides in pertinent part:

> "...Such statement of particulars should specify as definitely as <u>possible</u> the place, date and all other material facts of the crime charged that are specifically requested and are known to the prosecuting attorney..." Rule 3.140(n), Fla. R. Crim. P. (Emphasis supplied).

In response to Appellant's request for a more definite statement as to the cause of death the prosecutor stated:

> "Judge, we've alleged, with specificity, in the Indictment, that asphyxiation was caused by either a binding to the neck and/or a gag placed in the mouth. We believe there is ample evidence that will be brought out at trial that would support either theory...

a All of the evidence which we are going to be presenting at trial was available through discovery, either through statements of witnesses or through depositions or through physical evidence from the crime scene." (R. 207)

There has been no suggestion that the State had the ability to provide more detailed information as to the mode of death. Rule 3.140(n) requires only that the requested particulars be as detailed as possible. <u>State v. McGregor</u>, 409 So.2d 504 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982); <u>State v. Bandi</u>, 338 So.2d 75 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976); <u>Williams v. State</u>, 344 So.2d 927 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1977).

Appellant's argument that he was entitled to know the facts supporting premeditation, which offense the State planned to use to satisfy the intent requirement of the burglary offense and the facts to be used to prove that intent is without merit, and amounts to nothing more than an attempt to require the State to prove its entire case, on paper, prior to trial.

Appellant correctly notes that the State, having charged premeditated murder is entitled to prove either premeditated or felony murder. <u>Adams v. State</u>, 412 So.2d 850 (Fla. 1982). The rules of criminal procedure require disclosure of relevant evidence. Except as noted <u>supra</u>. in Issue II there is no suggestion that the rules were not fully complied with. Appellee is not required to disclose its theory of the entire case. Likewise, the burglary indictment is in compliance with §810.02, <u>Florida Statutes</u> (1981). The charge specifies that Appellant intended to commit theft or sexual battery. This is in keeping with the requirement that a particular offense be charged. Compare <u>Rozier v. State</u>, 402 So.2d 539 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981).

Appellee would submit that the premeditation and burglary questions are not preserved for appellate review. This information was requested in Appellant's initial motion for statement of particulars (R. 82-84). The State responded to this motion (R. 87) and Appellant requested additional particulars (R. 114-115). The request for additional particulars and the argument on this motion deal only with the mode of death (R. 114-115, 294-298). It is reasonable to assume, from the state of the record, that Appellant abandoned his demand for the information regarding premeditation and the burglary, and is thus barred from seeking appellate review of this issue. <u>Steinhorst, supra.; Castor v. State</u>, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978).

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